THE UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION



UNDERGRADUATE STUDENT CONGRESS Session CIV

General Body Meeting 7:00 pm, Tuesday, October 6, 2020

https://oklahoma.zoom.us/j/96159309031?pwd=c2c1WDMyNGk3TXBuYVMzSXZjUEcwUT0 9 Passcode: 74296497

Roll Call 7:00pm Mission Statement Moment of Silence Approval of Minutes Representative Nath seconded by Representative Angstadt Chair's Report - Hey everyone,

We had a joint committee on Sunday to talk about plans for the Conoco 2nd and 3rd office spaces. We are still conversing on what all to do there.

I spoke at CLA yesterday and got to meet a couple of associates I haven't met yet and that was really exciting. I am consistently meeting with the committee chairs and they are telling me about everyone's projects and I am also very excited about all of that.

I am sure everyone heard that school will be online after thanksgiving break. They are keeping campus open and housing and food will remain up and running. You probably also heard about spring break being replaced with an extra week of Christmas break. I hope you all understand why that decision was made.

Tonight is the official election of CAC chair, so make sure to vote. Also, filing is open for Congress and SGA president. If you are a new rep in congress you MUST run in this election to maintain your seat. The reason we do that is because everyone that serves in congress needs to be elected and the new reps were appointed not elected. Associates, you can run for your district rep seat if you wish. If you run and do not get a rep seat, you may still keep your associateship, so run cause you have nothing to loose.

Finally I will be making a joint committee soon to discuss the communication director so look out for updates on that. OU/TX is this weekend. Please be safe. Do not drink and drive, wear your mask, ask for consent.

Vice Chair's Report -

Secretary's Report – Hi everyone! If you didn't hear your name called for attendance or you came in after your name was called, please make sure to let me know because I mark down your name for voting to make sure I don't call anyone who isn't here. I hope you all are holding in there as we're approaching midterms. Reminder that if you ever need to talk about anything, my door is always open.

Committee Reports-

Campus Outreach, Safety, and Concerns: We met Sunday. Turn Up For Transit, we're working with Chris Glenn. Research for childcare, looking at options available now. Kendall Few is looking

into that. We're doing a committee on Goddard. Some is mental health, some is about international students. Gym survey will be formulated this week. We used student money to update the gym, so they should get a say in where their money goes. Also virtual mixer with international students and SGA members. Historically it's been international students representing international students, but they have reps in their colleges. I want to meet with IFC president about masking. Planning meeting about pre-pharmacy changes. Scheduling another Light Walk at the end of the month. Tell everyone about the suggestions box. Reach out to your constituents and friends and everything.

- O Congressional Administration: This weekend, Civic Participation Act of 2020. Changes date of our election by one day. Also seeing something about spring election since it usually depends on Spring Break. Small changes to True Democracy NOW. Taking out IFC elections since we don't run them anymore. Doesn't take affect until spring semester. Also, land acknowledgement project. ConAd doesn't meet this weekend but Code Club does meet.
- external Affairs: EA didn't officially meet this week. Updates still. Abby Broyles visited campus. I met with her as well as Savanah and some others. I'm learning about her direct policies that affect students. Very proud of Rachel for getting Abby here. Tabling in the Union Courtyard more this week. This week is National Voter Education Week. Local elections we're having we'll make voter guides as well as national. Directing that to Executive Branch PR director. Deadline to register in Oklahoma is Friday at 5pm. You can use your campus address to register here. Another project, we want to make a video about why it's important to international students that their US friends vote and how policies impact them. Get in contact with Giovanna if you're interested about that project. Finally, our local liaison attends city council meetings every Tuesday night and also is working with Rep Kerr on a city-wide Trash Walk.
- Human Diversity: Projects now include Friendsgiving, menstrual products drive with the GEC.
 Also, newsletter for OU students. Constituent member of COSCO reached out about vegan food options in Couch, working with Frank Henry on that on signage and options. Legislation and collaboration with other committees in the future.
- O Sustainability: Social media in the next few weeks. Developing the next Trash Walk. Working on a city-wide Trash Walk. Also inquiries about campus plastic use. Looking at campus lighting and landscaping. May involved executive branch over time. Also looking into coordination with the Athletics Department. Maybe spicy legislation, but that's a bit away.
- O University Policy: A few updates. We contacted administrators, Office of the Provost for course evals. Contacted BERT to see how we can help them in following up about last spring. Also University Counseling to address wait time issues and advice for students who do have wait times for counselors and what they should do in the meantime. Regarding pass/no pass option, in my previous emails, the Provost's Office said they could take action if the university went online. Not sure where that's at, at the moment. Working with Faculty Senate to see if we can get something to show to admin. Malachi, Dalton, and I were there. We came to a compromise, they seem to be in favor of a pass/no pass option provided that the threshold for a pass would be a C instead of a D. That was a concern for Engineering and Math classes. Talks will continue. Legislation coming out of UPol soon about that to support an agreement or whatever comes out of our talks. If you have ideas about what we should say to them next time, we're meeting with them Monday of next week. Anything else you want me to relay to the Faculty Senate, please let me know.
- O Ways and Means: We saw aux 4, and so will all of you.

Liaison Reports

Marvin: During our meetings, but PRRSA is on Zoom. Anyone interested, they're more than welcome to come. Ad Club meets every other Wednesday. I'm close with the presidents of both clubs. Broadbent: First, OK Votes and EA co-hosting VP Debate Watch Party tomorrow night. 7:15 Zoom options. Two people who are professors on campus will give commentary. The comments section was cool last time. Indigenous People's Day is next Monday, October 12th. Online things, tabling on the South Oval. Loayza: National Coming Out Day Sunday. I worked with the GEC for resources and graphics, so watch out for that this Sunday.

Bryant: I'm a TA for gateway. Student panel October 22. We need 3-4 students. It's on Tuesdays and Thursdays. If you want to bring awareness to your group reach out to me.

Merchant: It's Rape Awareness Week. Later this week we have Take Back the Night. GEC and HD planning menstrual product drive. We're also trying to do a CAS project about how people are staying connected. Kerr: OU College Dems is doing phone banking once a week every week till the election. Tomorrow 4-6pm. Let me or Becca know and we'll get you set up.

Special Orders

Student Concerns

Nath: Foster talked about this, but I'm working on Title 12 of the Code, the Indigenous Land Acknowledgement. I think it needs to be revised in light of recent OK laws. Also I got in touch with NAS and Linguistics Department and I proposed the idea of translating this into Choctaw and Cherokee because language is giving power back to communities. Department seemed excited. Also mention of this not being read at recurring meetings. I want to get a shorter version for recurring meetings. Anyone interested, reach out to me, I have a GroupMe.

Old Business

Items to Be Considered

AB-104-06 Auxiliary Allocation 6 Act of 2020-2021 (Patton) (WAM, Do Pass)

Representative Nath seconded by Representative Mojekwu

Patton: Aux 4. We gave them \$9260. Any questions, let me know.

Nath: What does TPUSA do?

Patton: Conservative political org for youth in America.

Buxton: Going over the minutes. In announcements, you said discussion was partisan? I didn't see that.

Patton: It was Sertovic recusing herself.

Bouch: I wanted to ask, with TPUSA's gross negligence not wearing masks on campus, how can we fund them not following guidelines?

Patton: We will fund an org if they're in good standing. Whether or not they're following policy needs to be followed up with George. From a funding perspective, if an org hasn't registered with ENGAGE yet, I can't put money in the account. If they were unregistered due to not following guidelines, they couldn't spend any money.

Bouch: Is any funding to TPUSA going to food?

Patton: All of it.

Bouch: Since TPUSA has violated university guidelines and all the money is going to food, FA striking their

Patton: Not at this time. If I'm told I cannot fund them due to guidelines I will take action. They will be referred to the Student Conduct Office if they violate protocol.

30-1-3

CB-104-20 Civic Participation Act of 2020 (Yanez/Murrell/Hillis) (ConAd, Do Pass)

Representative Buxton seconded by Representative Nath

Hillis: This moves our election dates from November 3 and 4 to the 4 and 5. We don't have on campus classes that day and we want people to vote in the federal elections too. Doesn't affect any filing. It pushes things after election one day back. This doesn't affect anything before it, it only affects things after it. Broadbent: Why do you feel it's necessary to shift the election to the next couple of days when it takes five minutes and it's online to vote in our election.

Hillis: It's important we don't take those five minutes away from those voting in the federal election and it will be difficult to publicize it off campus.

35-0-0

CB-104-19 True Democracy NOW Act of 2020 (Hillis) (Exec, Do Pass)

Representative Nath seconded by Representative Smail

Hillis: Hopefully this is the last time we talk about True Democracy NOW. If you weren't here last week, there are four main goals. First, safeguard candidates. Second, accessibility for voters. Removes fines, streamlines language, and reorganizes sections. Tell me the page numbers and sections if you're asking questions please unless it's an overarching question.

Broadbent: Why does this bill not take affect now?

Hillis: It's been relayed to me that since filing has already opened we shouldn't be changing election rules. It doesn't take affect for fall, only afterwards.

Broadbent: Does the Code allow for digital signatures for presidential petitions?

Hillis: Not aware that it expressly allows for online signatures. Up for interpretation.

Broadbent: Does True Democracy NOW have a provision for electronic signatures for COVID?

Hillis: Moves all signatures to an online form. I think it's archaic to still have paper signatures. Language updated in exec. Physically or online. Digital signatures must be verified via Single Sign On. Your SSO is your 4x4, jointly verified by student affairs and election commission.

Nath: Compensation for election commissioner?

Hillis: No change since the last time we saw this but we still are increasing their stipend from what it used to be.

Ahmadi: Going through this, why does section 6 appear first in the legislation?

Hillis: That's a part of a title before that. It's in the judicial title. It comes chronologically before that and goes into the elections title.

Lange: FA I mentioned Sunday in exec? First, change in section 9 chapter 4, "funding printed by SGA – not an SGA endorsement." Also, it uses the language, "may not decide to forgo a sanction," change that? Hillis: Yes.

Broadbent: Language grey regarding digital signatures. Campaigns have been reaching out to elicit digital signatures for their petition. Might violate the rules about unsolicited messages. If we passed it now would that alleviate the grey area?

Hillis: It would, yes, for acceptance of digital signatures. It would also clarify that you can use group chats. If you've received an explicit unrequested message asking for support that would be unsolicited. I haven't seen a grievance filed before the election.

Extend time 10 minutes

Representative Nath seconded by Representative Broadbent

Broadbent: FA passing True Democracy NOW, now, to alleviate the grey area about digital signatures and unsolicited messages?

Hillis: No because of the discussions I've had. Could propose a hostile.

Hong: Under election commission, says it should consist of 3-5 commissioners.

Hillis: 3 or 5 members, if one isn't there, the commissioner would break the tie.

Lynskey: chapter 4, section 3 campaign finance. What is the necessity of limiting finance in SGA elections? Hillis: This is in line with current rules. Allows for people to be on an equal playing field. The presidential race years back was limited to \$2000 for presidential, so I think this is more reasonable.

Buxton: A couple weeks ago, we saw election reform bill on group chats. How does that relate to Broadbent's concerns?

Hillis: That took away the provision about unsolicited messaging. Wording used in CAC bill was taken from True Democracy NOW.

Merchant: I think there was a bill awhile back that said a part of campaign finances would be covered by SGA?

Hillis: SGA pays for certain printing. Not for sure what constitutes printing. If Budgetary Chair Patton or George wants to clarify.

Ahmadi: New provision Richard Holt put in there. Very few people have taken advantage of that. I connect you with printing services to print your stuff.

Merchant: If a candidate asks for \$10 worth of fliers and it's paid for by SGA, does that detract from their funding limit?

Hillis: Yes.

Griffin: Since this bill doesn't go into effect until Spring, if a candidate makes a violation in this election that might be changed, would it still be filed against them?

Hillis: Yes, changes don't go into effect until after the validation of the fall election.

South: Do you think that given the length of time it takes for a bill to go through Congress, GSS, and the presidency, it might put that in the middle of the presidential election?

Hillis: I can see how that would have grey area. It would be a switch. On this day and hour, grievance rules switches.

Lynskey: him in chapter 5 section 11, change from himself/herself to themselves.

Buxton: Concerns from the body about this about enacting it now. Can you go further on why enacting it now wouldn't be a good idea?

Patterson: We get issues if we pick and choose which rules are enacted now or later. About pushing it to spring, it's because people view election rules before they file. Because people are aware of the rules before they file, changing rules after they file, it's complicated.

Extend time for questions 10min

Representative Lynskey seconded by Representative Harman

Buxton: I didn't mean Peyton would decide, more like Congress would split the question addressing some concerns immediately?

Patterson: It makes the process more complex than it needs to be. Feels like this election is a big one. In the grand scheme of things, it's just one election and this bill is so important that we want to make it the best and long lasting. Complicating it too much could have poor implications.

Ahmadi: Is the chair's stipend \$500 per election?

Hillis: Correct. \$500 for spring election and fall election.

Broadbent: What happens if we pass this, it doesn't take effect until spring, candidates collect digital signatures, and there's a lawsuit before the Superior Court?

Hillis: That's a constitutional question I don't feel comfortable answering.

Buxton: I'm concerned about having another election like the CAC election where we don't get to elect anybody. Could you split the question to eliminate the confusion so digital signatures aren't invalidated so we don't have to have another special election fiasco?

Hillis: The Code doesn't expressly prohibit digital signatures. Furthermore, I think you're asking to change the last section. I won't accept a FA about that. The Superior Court would use the current law during the time violations happened, so if it was split and passed now and later, the things we pass now won't help our situation. I also don't think the election chair or George didn't have any malice going to digital signatures. We're in a pandemic.

Harman: chapter 1, number 1, h. Do candidates have to choose digital or physical or can it be a mixture of both.

Hillis: I would imagine it's either/or. Collecting them online will be easier for candidates and George, Mary, and the Elections Commission who have to verify those signatures.

Recess for 2 minutes

Representative Buxton seconded by Representative Broadbent

Broadbent: Are you aware of a Superior Court justice on the call who would like to give their opinion? Hillis: I am now. It is unorthodox that a single justice would come speak if it's not the Chief Justice. The only person who can give advice is the General Counsel. This is our branch, we shouldn't be inviting other branches to give opinions.

Broadbent: Did General Counsel give advice?

Hillis: We've been in contact and they gave notes. On digital signatures, because of the ENGAGE verbiage, the online digital signatures would count under standing rules.

Debate called by Representative Broadbent

Hostile Amendment

Representative Broadbent seconded by Representative Few

Broadbent: I can't in good conscience do something that would cause more ambiguity and problems. I fully expect many won't agree, but I don't want to vote yes on a bill that would make the election process better but only passes after the fall election. We can't use what this bill was truly designed for. The presidential election in SGA is the most important we conduct. I understand concerns by a Superior Court justice about not passing this bill now. I would like to defer to their opinion. They are in favor of passing this now. The president could sign this bill Monday morning before the first candidate meeting occurs. General Council, the Elections Commissioner have both seen this bill already.

Bouch: Do you think this bill will be passed and signed by President Norris before the election occurs? Broadbent: I think it's very likely.

Harman: What is the hostile again?

Broadbent: Makes this bill pass now.

Mayes: Wouldn't it be easier to make this bill ex post facto to be retroactive rather than the hostile amendment?

Broadbent: That might be easier, but easier isn't always right. What's right is to get it done with now and do what we think is best. This is the solution we have now.

Mayes: Wouldn't making it ex post facto and your hostile amendment have the same goal? When a law is ex post facto, it has a retroactive effect. This bill would affect all things that happened before this bill was passed.

Broadbent: That would mean that this would be taken into consideration for fall 2020. That's an option, but we can just fix the problem right now. That's a good compromise if we wish to do so.

Bouch: With candidates meeting starting the 12th and GSS seeing this Sunday the 11th with no guarantee passing it or it being signed, how do you feel about candidates not knowing the rules?

Broadbent: I think it will pass GSS. If it doesn't we're in for a bit of trouble. But we're in trouble passing it now as it is. I'll defer to President Norris to ask if he could sign it before 9am Monday.

Norris: I decline to answer.

Ext time by 5min

Representative Hillis seconded by Representative Nath

Hillis: Aware that although this would fix some problems, it would create more? The Elections Board has to make the information on candidates booklet. They wouldn't have time to prepare distribution and production.

Broadbent: The Elections Chair believed this legislation would go into effect for this election and had time to prepare. She knew it could possibly happen. It will benefit the student body to know who they are voting for. Helping constituents is always worth that.

Lynskey: Hillis has outlined many large changes to how we conduct elections. Do you have any sort of physical evidence to know we could get this implemented in an equitable way before the election on November 4th.

Broadbent: Over the summer, the full intention was to put this bill in action for the fall 2020 election to alleviate the problems that occurred last election. Everyone who needs to know about the changes has been met with several times. Hillis did the work. Suddenly we decided it's too much work and we waited too long. The process is always slow. I think the right people are informed, but we waited too long, but that doesn't mean we shouldn't have the right thing.

Bouch: With this bill coming to the floor so late in the process, do you think the original intent has been modified?

Broadbent: The intention is now to save the spring election from the things the last spring election went through. To not put it into effect for this election that's so big, it's irresponsible. We should've seen it earlier. But the election is soon now. We should do right by our constituents.

Recess 2min

Debate

Bouch: I think the biggest motivation behind this is the signature process. There's no piece of this legislation that would make it retroactive. The Superior Court would have to decide based on what the rules were at the time of the electronic signatures. Signatures aren't a good enough motive to rush this legislation and change the election rules during the election season. It doesn't solve the problems it was intended to solve and creates more.

Broadbent: I'm trying to do my best by the people I represent. I want to make the election process go better for them. I think it solves problems of validation in Fall 2020. Malachi made a great point that the signatures are not good enough. GroupMes have been the largest point of contention. It led to the invalidation of the spring election. It's in our best interest to do right by the people we represent to make the process better. I think it's never too late to try to do the right thing. I think my hostile amendment will be voted down, but on my conscience I tried to do the right thing. Do right by the people you represent.

South: Malachi hit the nail on the head. If we edit True Democracy NOW making it come into effect before the validation of the general election it will cause more problems. The rules at filing are a determination of whether someone wants to run or not. This hostile amendment will further complicate things and make it harder for Superior Court to make a judgement on which rules to go by. It's wisest in my opinion to wait. Buxton: I do have a personal stake in this bill, so I'm abstaining. It's important as a rep to speak my mind. We have a CAC election 6 months ago. We talked about group chats and digital signatures. This put a lot more stress on them. To fail to clarify the language and the Code even when we had the intention of doing so, we should do it now. I don't think it's within our right to say what's constitutional or unconstitutional. We can only speculate. 20 percent of the Superior Court said they don't know about digital signatures. I'm worried about whoever wins the presidential election, it will be challenged and we're forever waiting on who the next president will be well after the election has already happened.

Hillis: I want to go back to clear up confusion. Title 4, the number of justices is set at 7 justices. A justice commenting on a case that is not before them is out of line. Speaking on behalf of the entire court is out of line. Towards the hostile amendment, the election rules as they are are not bad. I'm happy everyone is on my side that we want to move towards a more fair election process, but rushing into that process during an ongoing election is not in our best interest. Even if GSS passes this bill and President Norris signs this into law, it doesn't give enough time to the commissioner to prepare presentations for all candidates. The solutions this hostile seeks to give provides more problems. It'd change the chair to commissioner. Sounds trivial, but all our materials still say election chair. I think that changing the election rules during the current election is a problem. It will be a great bill if it takes effect today or after the fall election.

Broadbent: I believe everyone's intention is to do best by the election. We need to do our best to do right by our constituents right now. Think hard about representing your constituents now or if you want to way. I couldn't have passed this bill in good conscience without making the process better. It may cause problems on the SGA end, but the students matter. They vote. They have the right to be informed and True Democracy NOW helps them be informed. I am aware that this could cause problems on the SGA side but I believe I should represent my constituents first.

Hostile Amendment 7-21-6

Broadbent: Sorry I took all your time with the hostile. Foster's bill is very good and you should pass it. It'll help spring 2021 election and I'm very proud of Foster for all the hard work he put in on this bill. I appreciate you all listening to my grievances.

34-0-0

Follow-Up Reports

Marvin: Light Walk, Facilities Management emailed me back. They do matter. We will have lights on campus. South: Mask Up OU passed. We're working on distribution. Today it went out to OU Daily and Nightly as well as all students on the Norman campus.

Items for Future Agenda

South: Pass/no pass resolution.

Patton: aux 5.

Harman: Emily and I have two, National Coming Out Day, and one that follows that up.

Announcements and Comments

Ahmadi: Reflections on the discussion tonight. It's really important to note that every election board and chair is different. You have a new chair every year. If you have questions about the rules, email Peyton. Technology advances. I want to be very clear that there's so many election rules changes because SGA can't figure it all out, and that's okay. If you have questions, that starts with the chair. Two, the decision about electronic signatures was driven by me. They aren't allowing tabling to pass out materials. SGA should not be responsible for any transmission of droplets. If any candidate is accepting physical signatures, that is fine too. We'll still accept them. Both should be accepted. I don't want anyone to think this was done to subvert the rules. Any questions, email me or electionchair@ou.edu and we can discuss it.

Loayza: Me and a team of Gaylord students have been working on a podcast that goes out tomorrow, Survive and Thrive, y'all should watch it.

Nath: Little Event has hit the maximum volunteer limit of 250.

Harman: Shoutout to Foster, our wonderful ConAd chair, for his work on True Democracy NOW.

Patton: George, what's your cat's name?

Ahmadi: Holly.

Final Roll Call Adjourn

Representative Nath seconded by Representative Kerr

Chair: Savanah Patterson Vice Chair: Malachi Bouch Secretary: Emily Tucker

Session 104	AB-104-06	CB-104-20	CB-104-19	Hostile Amendment
Alpert, Lucy	у	у	у	n
Angstadt, Kennedy	у	у	у	n
Broadbent, Taylor	у	у	у	y
Bryant, Maegan	n	у	у	y

Buxton, Nate				
	у	У	У	a
Carmona, Ismael	У	У	У	n
Chenevey, Brandon	У	У	У	n
Cotton, Chad	у	У		
Dobson, Jessica				
Douglas, Zoe	у	У	У	n
Few, Kendall	у	у	у	n
Flaggert, Jake				
Garg, Nishit				
Grebe, Jordan	у	у	у	a
Harman, Caitlyn	у	у	у	n
Hillis, Foster	у	у	у	n
Hong, Anna	у	у	у	n
Kerr, Susan	у	у	у	y
Kevric, Hanna	у	у	у	n
Lange, Jake	a	у	у	n
Lewis, Lacey	у	у	у	y
Loayza, Robert	у	У	у	y
Long, Matt				
Lynskey, Graeson	у	у	у	n
Marvin, Alexis	у	у	у	a
May, Sidney	у	у	у	n
Mayes, Mark	у	у	у	y
McGee, Tess	у	у	у	у
Merchant, Mahak	a	у	у	n
Miller, Summer	у	у	у	n
Mojekwu, Peace		у	у	a
Murdock, Max	у	у	у	n
Nath, Joy	y	у	y	n
Roberts, Lauren	y	у	у	a
Rosen, Ashley	у	у	y	n
Smail, Taylor	у	у	у	a
Stormer, Sam	a	у	у	n

Thomas, Christopher	у	у	у	n
Tucker, Emily	y	y	y	n
Yes	30	35	34	7
No	1	0	0	21
Abstain	3	0	0	6

THE UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION

UNDERGRADUATE STUDENT CONGRESS CONGRESSIONAL SESSION CIV October 6th, 2020

GRADUATE STUDENT SENATE SENATE SESSION GF20 October 11th, 2020

CONGRESSIONAL BILL AB-104-07 SENATE BILL NO. GF20-XX

AS INTRODUCED

An act relating to appropriations; providing for short title; stating purpose; appropriating Auxiliary Funding for the 2020-2021 process; stating appropriation guidelines; establishing expiration deadline; directing transfer of unused funds by deadline; and providing an effective date.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION:

Section 1: This act shall be known and may be cited as the "Auxiliary Allocation 4 Act of 2020-2021"

Section 2: PURPOSE. The purpose of this act is to appropriate the funds of the University of Oklahoma Student Government Association to the organizations mentioned within.

Section 3: APPROPRIATION. The following amounts are hereby allocated to

Organization	Programs, Events & Activities	Capital Investments	Office and General Expenses	Total
Asian American Student Association	6750			6750
Real Estate Club	500			500
Sigma Lambda Beta	1000			1000
Structural Engineering Institute at the University of Oklahoma	360			360
The Black Theatre Collective	200			200
Turning Point USA	450			450
			TOTAL:	9260

Section 4:	All guidelines and provisions in Title 10 of the Code Annotate appropriated in this act.	d shall apply to all funds
Section 5:	This fiscal year for the account listed in these sections shall end Ma	ny 7, 2021
Section 6:	All unspent money remaining in the accounts listed in Section 3 General Account after May 7, 2021, and the remaining appropriation	
Section 7:	This act shall become effective when passed in accordance with the	e SGA Constitution.
Author(s):	Lauren Patton, Chair, SGA Budget Committee	
Co-Author(s):	SGA Budgetary Committee	
Action taken by	motion by: Representative Nath seconded by Representative Mojekt Student Congress: 30-1-3 ir of Student Congress:	wu _ Date:
Submitted on a Action taken by Verified by Cha	•	_ Date:
Approved by So	GA President:	Date:

THE UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION

UNDERGRADUATE STUDENT CONGRESS CONGRESSIONAL SESSION CIV September 27, 2020

CONGRESSIONAL BILL No. CB-104-20 SENATE BILL No. XXXXX

AS INTRODUCED

A Congressional Act of Legislation amending the date of the Student Government Association's Fall General Elections; providing short title; and providing an effective date.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION UNDERGRADUATE STUDENT CONGRESS:

Section 1: Title: This act shall be known and may be cited as the "Civic Participation Act of 2020."

Section 2: Purpose: The purpose of this act shall be to honor the 2020 United States Election cycle and encourage civic participation in both the 2020 United States Election cycle and the Fall 2020 Student Government Association Elections by amending the date of the Fall 2020 Student Government Association Elections.

- **Section 3:** This section shall allow the temporary nullification of the Code Annotated § Title VI, Chapter 2, section 36, subsection B ("Fall General Election"), only for the purposes of amending the election date from November 3rd and 4th to November 4th and 5th, 2020.
- **Section 4:** This law shall not allow the Elections Chair to change any other dates as listed in Code Annotated Title VI. This law shall also expire immediately following the Superior Court's validation order of the Fall 2020 General Election.
- **Section 5:** This act shall be effective when passed when in accordance with the SGA Constitution.

Section 6: Copies of this bill shall be sent to:

- The SGA Elections Chair
- All correctly filed candidates in the Fall 2020 General Election
- The OU Daily
- The OU Nightly

Author(s): Rebecca Yanez, Associate

Dylan Murrell, Associate

Foster Hillis Chair of Congressional Administration Committee, University College Representative

Co-Author(s): Robert Loayza, Communications Representative

Joy Nath, Social Sciences Representative

Submitted on a Motion by: Representative Buxton sec	conded by Representative Nath
Action Taken by Congress: 35-0-0	
Verified by Chair of Congress:	Date:
Submitted on a motion by:	
Action taken by Senate:	
Verified by Chair of Senate:	Date:
•	
Approved by SGA President:	Date:

THE UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION

UNDERGRADUATE STUDENT CONGRESS CONGRESSIONAL SESSION CIV October 6, 2020

GRADUATE STUDENT SENATE SENATE SESSION GSXX Month DD, YYYY

CONGRESSIONAL BILL CB-104-19 SENATE BILL NO. GFXX-XX

AS INTRODUCED

A Congressional Act of Legislation that amends the Code Annotated to allow for more open and fair elections; providing short title; and providing an effective date.

Section 1: Title: This act shall be known and may be cited as the "True Democracy NOW Act of 2020."

Section 2: Purpose: The purpose of this act shall be to amend the Code Annotated to (1) improve safeguards to protect candidates, (2) increase accessibility of voters to vote on candidates, (3) remove all fines, and (4) clarify, streamline, and update all language as necessary and reorganize the election sections.

- **Section 3**: AMENDATORY: Remove all text from Title IV, Chapter 6 of the Student Government Association's Code Annotated.
- **Section 4:** AMENDATORY: A new section shall replace Title IV, Chapter 6 of the Student Government Association's Code Annotated.

Chapter 6 - The SGA Elections Commission

- 1. **Power.** The Election Commission shall be responsible for overseeing and enforcing all provisions of Title VI of the Code Annotated and ensuring fair elections.
- 2. Composition. The Election Commission shall consist of the Election Commissioner, the Election Staff, and an ex-office of the Congressional Administration Committee. No member of the Election Commission shall commit election fraud; evidence of fraud shall be presented to the General Council, as provided for in Title VI. Any member of the Election Staff may be removed by recommendation from the SGA President or Election Commissioner with the advice and consent of the Legislative Branch. No member of the Election Commission shall be a candidate in any election for which they are appointed to work. The Election Commissioner and Staff shall be SGA members and serve from the beginning of the fall semester to the end of the spring semester of a given academic year.
 - a. Election Commissioner. The Election Commissioner shall be appointed by the SGA President with the advice and consent of the Legislative Branch. The appointee must be submitted to the Legislative Branch for advice and consent after the Spring election.

i. Responsibilities

- 1. Consistent with Title VI, the Election Commissioner may make such rules and procedures and take such action as they deem necessary to affect the provisions and intent of the Code Annotated and to ensure a fair election. Such rules and procedures shall be considered binding unless overturned on appeal.
- 2. The Election Commissioner shall hold an Interest Meeting for all prospective candidates or members of SGA five (5) academic weeks before any election.
- 3. The Election Commissioner and SGA Staff Assistant shall ensure that the academic districts and eligibility requirements of all candidates are verified at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the publication of the Information on Candidates Booklet.
- 4. The Election Commissioner shall publicly post confirmed disclosed spending information for all SGA Presidential candidates and all CAC Chair candidates four (4) days prior to the election.
- 5. The Election Commissioner shall make all correspondence, applications, records, reports, and forms regarding all elections available for public inspection in the SGA office except when state and/or federal law does not allow.
- 6. The Election Commissioner shall hold office hours to assist candidates prior to and during the election process. From the filing period to the validation of the election of the semester, the Election Commissioner shall hold a minimum of eight (8) office hours a week

- in the SGA office. The office hours schedule shall be publicly posted by the Election Commissioner.
- 7. <u>The Election Commissioner may have additional responsibilities as provided for in Title VI.</u>
- ii. Report. At the conclusion of each election, the Election Commissioner shall make a report to the Superior Court for their consideration in validating an election. This report must be submitted to the Superior Court within forty-eight (48) hours following the closing of the polls. The Election Commissioner shall also file a report of the results of the election to be kept in the SGA executive offices. This report shall also be submitted to the SGA President, the Undergraduate Student Congress, the Graduate Student Senate, and General Counsel and shall include:
 - 1. The total number of votes cast for each candidate or ticket at each poll,
 - 2. The total number of consenting and dissenting votes in any referendum,
 - 3. Any written rulings issued by the Election Commissioner,
 - 4. The minutes of the Election Commission,
 - 5. Information about any election irregularities or problems, and
 - 6. Other appropriate information.
- iii. Vacancy. If the position of Election Commissioner is not filled in accordance with the legislative advising and consenting process, the General Council shall fulfill all duties of the Election Commissioner until one is officially appointed.
- iv. Appointing the Election Commission Staff. The Election Commissioner shall appoint the Election Commission Staff with the advice and consent of the Legislative Branch.
- b. Election Commission. The Election Commission shall consist of three (3) or five (5) SGA members. The Election Commissioner shall be the chairperson of the Election Commission and vote only in case of a tie. A member of the Congressional Administration shall serve as a non-voting ex-offico officer of the committee. The membership of the Election Commission shall be posted in a public place. The Election Commission shall be responsible for conducting the election and enforcing the election rules as established by this Title.
 - i. Campaign Spending. The Election Commission shall assess spending values of donated materials following investigation of the validity of the value assigned by the candidate. The Election Commission may dispute any assigned spending value and assess new values that they find to be more accurate. Determination and confirmation of the accuracy of spending disclosure is the responsibility of the Election Commission, subject to appeal to the Superior Court.
 - ii. **Quorum**. A majority of the Election Commission voting members shall constitute a Quorum to conduct business.

Section 5: AMENDATORY: Remove all text from Title VI of the Student Government Association's Code Annotated.

Section 6: AMENDATORY: A new chapter in Title VI in the Student Government Association's Code Annotated.

<u>Chapter 1 – General Provisions</u>

1. **Definitions**

- a. Campaign Spending The value of any products, services, or expenses incurred by the campaign. "Value" should not include any discounts, which are not available to the general public, but should include the value of any services or products donated. This shall not include the value of any non-professional services performed by students.
- b. <u>Campaign Time Frame The time between the publishing of the Information on</u> Candidates Booklet and the validation of the election.
- c. **Campaigning** Working in an organized and active way to promote a candidate as a representative of or at the directive of that candidate.
- d. **Designated Agent** A person chosen and registered by a candidate with the ability to represent the candidate in any official capacity.
- e. <u>Election Fraud</u> Any act or omission completed or attempted with the intent to deprive a candidate or voter of their rights.
- f. Publicly Posted Conspicuously posted in the SGA Office & on the SGA website under the Election's tab.
- g. SGA Presidential Race The SGA Presidential race includes candidates for SGA President and SGA Vice President running together as one (1) ticket.
- h. Signatures Signatures required for Presidential and CAC Chair petitions may be collected physically or online. Physical signatures must include the following information: OU ID number, name, and signature. Digital signatures must be authenticated through an online platform that can be integrated with OU's single sign-on (SSO). The process for digital signatures must be jointly approved by the Election Commissioner and the Office of Student Affairs.
- i. <u>Unsolicited</u> Any unrequested electronic message sent through an OU-maintained service (eg. OU email, Canvas, etc), for the purpose of explicitly requesting a vote or support.
- 2. Applicability of Election Rules. The policies, regulations, and stipulations in this Title shall be applicable only to candidates for positions that are named in sections four (4) and five (5) hereinafter. All other campus organizations and bodies wishing to conduct an election may individually establish procedures for that election.
- 3. Purpose of Election Rules. The provisions governing elections are intended to provide for the fairness, equitability, and efficiency of all SGA elections with respect to both candidates and voters. In the absence of established guidelines, rulings concerning elections should be made with this principle in mind.
- 4. **Spring General Election**. The following shall be elected in the Spring General Election:
 - a. the Campus Activities Council (CAC) Chair,
 - b. <u>Undergraduate Student Congress Representative Seats, and</u>
 - c. the Student Bar Association (SBA) President.

- 5. **Fall General Election**. The following shall be elected in the Fall General Election:
 - a. The SGA President and Vice-President
 - b. <u>Undergraduate Student Congress Representative Seats</u>
- 6. Vacancies. The SGA President shall be notified in writing of any vacancy that occurs in the positions listed in sections 4 and 5, above. If the SGA President resigns, they shall notify the Chairs of both Houses of the Legislative Branch. The number of seats available for election shall not change after the filing period begins.
 - a. Election to Fill Vacancy. Should a Congressional Seat become vacant after filing has opened, so long as a vacancy in that district was already made public and was included on the filing form during filing for candidates to apply, that new vacant seat may be filled at the time of election using the point tabulation system. If the district was never included initially on the filing form, then that seat shall not be filled during the active general election.
 - b. Appointment to Fill Vacancy. For each position listed in sections 4 and 5 above, other than SGA President, Vice President, and CAC Chair, the organization of which the appointment is needed to be made, that organization shall determine their own appointment qualifications. Those listed in the aforementioned sentence, shall be up for election in the next possible general election.
- 7. Uncontested Elections. All positions for which one has filed for election, they must be placed on the ballot in the respective district, even if the position is uncontested. In an uncontested election the candidate must receive at least fifty percent (50%) of the lowest winning vote count of the most recent election in the district in which the candidate is uncontested in.

Section 7: AMENDATORY: A new chapter in Title VI in the Student Government Association's Code Annotated.

Chapter 2 – Election Rules

- 1. Electorate. The electorate of the SGA Presidential and the CAC Chair races shall consist of all members of the SGA. Subject to any applicable provisions of the SGA Constitution, the Legislative Branch shall establish the electorate for all other races in General and/or Special Elections. In the absence of any guidance from the Legislative Branch, the Election Commission may adopt any rules established by the affected organization to determine the electorate for a specific race.
- 2. Election Dates. The sections below shall be the dates of the general elections, unless the Legislative Branch changes the date by an Act of the Legislative Branch at least three (3) weeks before the week of the date proposed by the legislation. The Election Commissioner shall have the power to waive this three (3) week requirement if they deem that exceptional circumstances warrant a waiver. Any special election, referendum, or initiatives shall be passed by an Act of the Legislative Branch at least three (3) weeks before the week of the date proposed by the legislation. This requirement cannot be waived.
 - a. **Fall General Election**. The Fall General Election shall be held the Tuesday and Wednesday of the eleventh (11th) academic week of the fall semester.
 - b. **Spring General Election**. The Spring General Election shall be held the Tuesday and Wednesday of the second (2nd) academic week following spring break.
- 3. <u>Deadline Requirements</u>. Any deadline within this Title, exception those noted, may be implicitly suspended by the Election Commissioner with the advice and consent of the Election Commission.
- 4. Election Funding. The SGA Budgetary Committee shall allocate sufficient funds in each Administrative Appropriations Act to conduct two General Elections, two (2) run-off elections and at least one (1) special election, including the compensation of all eligible Election Commission members for each election and sufficient publicity for filing and voting.
- 5. **Polling.** If an SGA member cannot vote through the online voting software implemented by the Elections Commission, they shall request a ballot from the Election Commission in person in the SGA iOffice or over the OU maintained email service. Doing so, the SGA member shall provide their OU ID as sufficient identification. The ballot may be requested any time after the publishing of the Information on Candidates booklet and shall be sent when the online polls open. The alternative ballot must be accepted during the online polling days and normal business hours of the Student Life office. The Election Commission shall ensure that any person that used an alternative ballot cannot and did not vote more than once (1) in any election.
- 6. **Voter's Rights.** The following rights should not be infringed.
 - a. The right of the student vote by secret ballot shall not be infringed. The right of the student to arrive at a voting decision free from undue influence shall not be infringed.
 - b. No person(s), group(s), or organization(s), regardless of their affiliation, shall require any student(s) to vote, or shall require any student(s) to vote either for or against any proposal, candidate, or candidates in any SGA sanctioned election.
 - c. Any SGA member has the right to request, in writing, a ruling of the Election Commissioner at any time during the campaign period. The Election Commissioner shall make a written ruling on any such petition within twenty-four (24) hours of its submission.

7. Procedure for Run-off The Presidential, SBA, and CAC race shall be popularly elected by a simple majority vote (fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) votes) of the ballots cast for that purpose. In any of the aforementioned races, should no candidate receive a simple majority vote (fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) votes), the top two candidates shall be placed on the ballot for a runoff election to occur on the Tuesday immediately following the original election date. The top vote-recipient of the runoff election shall be declared the winner.

Section 8: AMENDATORY: A new chapter in Title VI in the Student Government Association's Code Annotated.

Chapter 3 – Candidates

1. **Filing.** Filing for general and special elections shall occur online on the Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday of fourth (4th) academic week before the week of the election, unless the Legislative Branch changes the dates or times by an Act of Legislation. In any case, the filing period shall run at least four (4) academic days. No prospective candidate may file for more than one (1) elected position. Filing forms for SGA elective positions shall include the following acknowledgement statement & each candidate shall sign the statement before submitting their form:

"I do hereby affirm that I am required to abide by the SGA Constitution, SGA Code Annotated, and the SGA Campaign Activity Policy. I understand that I can be disqualified from the election if I disregard the election guidelines and rules. Furthermore, University, Local, State, and Federal rules and laws take precedent; and I may be subject to all of the aforementioned jurisdictions."

- 2. Candidate Requirements. No person may be listed on a ballot as a candidate for office unless they fulfill the requirements for candidacy listed in this section. Candidates for any SGA elected office must be in good academic standing with their respective college or department. Candidates shall complete an academic requirement form. The Election Commissioner and the SGA Staff Assistant shall verify the prospective candidate's academic eligibility before being placed on the ballot. Each candidate or their designated agent shall attend a mandatory candidates meeting.
 - a. Candidates in SGA Presidential & CAC Races. Candidates in the SGA

 Presidential or CAC Chair election shall present to the Election Commission a
 petition with the signatures of 20% of the total number of votes in the last
 corresponding election or five hundred (500) signatures, whichever is less, by the
 time of the filing deadline. If the Election Commission determines that a petition
 does not have enough signatures as a result of a mistake in counting, candidates
 shall be allotted twenty-four (24) additional hours to collect the necessary remaining
 signatures to remain on the ballot. The Election Commission shall not make any
 adverse ruling on any petition.
- 3. <u>Mandatory Candidates Meeting</u>. Each candidate or their designated agent shall attend a mandatory candidates' meeting. At least two (2) mandatory candidates' meetings shall be held within the Monday to Thursday immediately following the end of the filing period.
 - a. All rules shall be explained, the campaign material registration form distributed, the deadline for the campaign spending disclosure shall be announced, and the Superior Court's rules for submitting an appeal concerning electoral matters. The Congress Chair shall provide a list of the responsibilities of an SGA Undergraduate Student Congress Representative to be distributed by the Election Commissioner during the initial candidate meeting.
 - b. <u>Candidates who do not attend the mandatory meeting shall still remain on the ballot and may be subject to an infraction in Chapter Five (5) of this Title.</u>

- 4. Candidate Withdrawal. Any candidate may withdraw their name from the ballot any time prior to 5:00 p.m. the Friday before the election by submitting written notification to the Election Commissioner. The Election Commissioner shall verify said notification.
- 5. Designated Agents. Candidates running in the SGA Presidential and CAC Chair race must specify a designated agent. Candidates not running in those races may specify a designated agent on the filing form. Designated Agents shall have the ability to represent the candidate in any official capacity. No Designated Agent may be a candidate for any race during the same election, nor may they be an elected or appointed member of the Legislative, Executive, or Judicial Branch of SGA.
- 6. <u>Infractions</u>. All candidates shall be subject to any points as allocated by the Elections Commission, outlined in Chapter 5 of this title.

Section 9: AMENDATORY: A new chapter in Title VI in the Student Government Association's Code Annotated.

Chapter 4 – Campaigns

- 1. Campaign Material Registration. The Office of Student Affairs shall be notified of all SGA campaigning before any campaigning takes place via the Election Commissioner's prescribed method. Failure to complete the campaign material registration form that is provided by the Elections Commissioner will disallow candidates from all but oral campaigning and the Information on Candidates Booklet. On or off campus, candidates may only use types of campaign materials listed on their campaign material registration form. Candidates who wish to have SGA print their campaign materials must submit a request for printing as part of their Campaign Material Registration.
- 2. Campaign Time Frame. Prior to the official campaign period, prospective candidates may begin recruiting campaign staff and/or establishing but not publicizing a campaign internet site. The Election Commissioner is responsible for ensuring that campaign material registration is open for candidates within two (2) business days of the end of the filing period. Candidates may register for materials prior to the official campaign period. If candidates have not received notification of denial of their campaign materials registration from by the Election Commissioner within one (1) business day, then candidates may proceed with campaigning described on the submitted form. Only after the publishing of the Information on Candidates Booklet, may candidates begin campaigning.

3. Campaign Finance

- a. There shall be an upper limit placed on all campaign spending. The spending limit shall be established at five hundred dollars (\$500) for each SGA Presidential, CAC Chair, and SBA Presidential ticket, and fifty dollars (\$50) for each Student Congress Representative candidate. A candidate may not expense in excess of the spending limit, and a candidate must not accept donations in excess of the spending limit value. For only the weeks which a run-off election is held, candidates may spend an additional twenty percent (20%) of the previously allotted figure.
 - i. Campaign contributions are limited to one hundred dollars (\$100) per entity including organizations and individuals excluding self-funding from the candidate.
- b. All campaign spending, and donations must be accounted for. The Elections Commissioner shall provide standardized forms for this purpose.
- c. By 5:00 p.m. on the Monday of the week preceding an election and the day after an election (including all runoff elections), all candidates must file financial reports that include:
 - i. an Expenses Report which must list and briefly describe the expenses and receipts incurred by or on behalf of the reporting candidate up to the reporting date;
 - ii. a Donations Report which must describe all donations that a candidate has received including, but not limited to, cash, cash-equivalents, and non-cash tangible items; and
 - iii. a statement attesting to the validity of the reported information, signed by the candidate or their Designated Agent.
- d. The Election Commission shall review each set of financial reports to verify that the information provided is complete and accurate. The Election Commission shall also determine whether any spending limits have been violated. In making this determination, the Election Commission shall have full authority to resolve any questions concerning the retail value of goods and services not evidenced by receipts or other verified documentation. All expenses and donations must be listed at fair market value.
- e. Budgets from two (2) or more candidates may not be combined in any way. Any campaign material promoting more than one (1) candidate must be expensed at actual cost or fair market value, depending on the appropriate circumstance, by each candidate named.

- f. Candidates must list the entire cost of each individual expense that results in campaign material that in any way suggests support for their candidacy. There shall be no prorating of costs to account for unused campaign items which were purchased.
- g. All expenses incurred by a campaign, including those offset by monetary and/or in-kind donations to the campaign, count as campaign expenses and must be reported in the campaign expense reports. Donations to a campaign do not alter the upper limit for campaign spending; moreover, campaigns must not accept donations in excess of the dollar value of the campaign spending limit. All unspent cash donations and any unused tangible, material donations must be returned to the donor no later than 5:00 p.m. on the Friday following validation of the election.

4. Campaign Material Printing

- a. <u>Candidates have the option to request printed materials from SGA. SGA must facilitate the purchases of printed materials for campaigns through OU Printing Services and incur the associated costs.</u>
- b. The costs of these printed materials should be counted towards the requesting candidate's spending limit and must be reported on that candidate's Expense Report.
- c. The Election Commission shall develop and present a budget for campaign material printing and give this to the SGA Budgetary Chair in a timely manner before the beginning of the Primary Funding Process.
- d. The Election Commission shall work with OU Printing Services to compile a list of materials and the costs of those materials that candidates may purchase for the campaign.
- e. <u>Publicly funded campaign materials must say, "Printing funded by SGA not an official SGA</u> endorsement."
- 5. General Campaign Rules. Candidates must ensure that every individual campaigning on behalf of the candidate or volunteering for the candidate is aware of campaign rules and guidelines. All campaign rules apply to all campaigning activity, regardless of whether the activity takes place during the designated campaign time frame or prior to that period. Candidates shall be liable for the campaign infractions of their campaigners and volunteers even if the candidate did not specifically direct the offending action. Candidates may be assessed points if their campaigners or volunteers are found to be guilty of breaking campaign regulations. Some of these rules are university policies. The following infractions shall be assigned with the proceedings in Chapter 5 of this title.
 - a. <u>Class A Infractions.</u> The following infractions shall be considered "Class A Infractions," which the Election Commission shall assign a candidate no less than two (2) and no more than three (3) points for each.
 - i. Campaigns shall not remove, alter, cover, obscure, chalk within, or otherwise tamper with another candidate's campaign materials nor shall they damage any University property. They shall be responsible for any damage caused by that said candidates' campaign materials.
 - ii. Employees of the University shall not campaign for candidates while on duty as an employee, however, they may campaign while off duty.
 - iii. On the day of voting, if an individual affiliated with a campaign approaches a student while voting, the individual may not encourage the student to vote in a particular way.
 - iv. Candidates or their Designated Agent's failure to attend the candidates meeting.
 - b. <u>Class B Infractions.</u> The following infractions shall be considered "Class B Infractions," which the Election Commission shall assign a candidate between 1 and 2 points for each.
 - i. <u>Candidates shall not campaign outside of the designated campaign time frame through ways not already provided for in this Title.</u>

- ii. <u>Candidates shall not campaign or post candidate information or advertising on any website hosted or operated by OU IT other than the official candidates' statements (this is excluding the Information on Candidates booklet).</u>
- iii. Candidates shall not unduly disrupt the normal activities of the University, including but not limited to classes, lectures, or events sponsored by the University or any Registered Student Organization; furthermore, they cannot interfere or impede the regular operations of any sidewalk, bike lane, roadway, parking lot, or parking garage.
- iv. Candidates shall not post campaign materials in or on a CART vehicle.
- v. Candidates shall not use or distribute campaign stickers.
- vi. <u>Incorrect/incomplete reports</u>, as determined by the Election Commission, must not be accepted.
- vii. Any infraction of the rules of the "Campus Housing" section hereafter.
- viii. <u>Candidates may not post any campaigning material inside an academic classroom nor shall they disrupt the any instructional times without prior permission from the instructor.</u>
- ix. No campaign materials may be posted in or on the Oklahoma Memorial Union or any University library.
- x. Each candidate shall be responsible for the removal of their campaign material from public areas and buildings by 4:30 P.M. on the day following the validation of the election.
- c. <u>Class C Infractions.</u> The following infractions shall be considered "Class C Infractions," which the Election Commission shall assign a candidate between .5 and 1.5 points for each.
 - i. All campaign material shall be accredited to the sponsoring candidate. Said material shall include the following phrase: "Approved by [said sponsoring candidate]." No other phrase is acceptable.
 - ii. Candidates shall not send any unsolicited electronic messages via platforms funded and maintained by the University (ie. OU email, Canvas, etc). This does not include messages sent over non-maintained platforms (third-party group chats, social medias, etc.).
 - iii. Only dry chalking is allowed on sidewalks. Paint, tape, and wet chalk are prohibited on sidewalks, as is chalking on any vertical surface (buildings, steps, sides of ramps, etc.) or under overhangs.
 - 1. Non-President & CAC Chair candidates may chalk in any location that has not been reserved for a President or CAC Chair campaign.
 - 2. Non-President & CAC Chair candidates may only use only yellow and/or white dry chalking, while President & CAC Chair candidates may use any colors.
 - iv. Candidates shall not use the letterhead, logo, or any symbol that the University of Oklahoma or any affiliate (i.e. OU Athletics) that has a trademark, license or other legal control of. No Candidate may display the logo of the Student Government Association, any branch of the Student Government Association, or program of the Programming Branch. Only the registered leadership of RSOs may file a grieves for their logo or likeness if the candidate has not gained the permission of the RSO to use their logo or likeness.
 - v. The Election Commissioner and Election Commission members have the right to solicit the names of all members of a campaign from the affiliated candidate.
- d. <u>Candidates shall abide by all University policy which supersedes any Election Commission</u> mandate.

- 6. Additional Campaign Rules for Specific Areas. Unless explicitly stated otherwise within this Title, all campaigning or campaign material in private or public areas must have the expressed written consent of the property owner or authorized agent.
 - a. <u>Campus Housing</u>. Subject to the General Campaign Rules and other exceptions herein, all campaigning or campaign material in or on Campus Housing requires the expressed consent of the local Center Coordinator, whose decisions shall be uniform for all candidates.
 - i. <u>Campaign materials may be posted inside a resident's window with the expressed consent of that resident.</u>
 - ii. Distribution of printed literature, under doors, and door-to-door campaigning is only permitted from 12:00 noon to 9:00 P.M.
 - iii. <u>Candidates may campaign in lounges during visitation hours unless prohibited</u> <u>or otherwise regulated Housing & Food rules.</u>
 - b. Outdoor Campus Areas. Only candidates running for SGA President or CAC Chair are allowed to place stake signs (maximum dimensions of each sign are 16" by 18") on campus. Said signs may be displayed at the edges of ground cover beds, shrub beds, and/or turf areas (not in flower beds). Installation must be accomplished without damaging or disturbing landscaping. Before staked signs may be installed, the Election Commission shall mark staked signs with a differentiating mark, stamp, or tag. All staked signs not containing this mark, stamp, or tag are prohibited.
- 7. Rule Violation Complaints Filed in Good Faith Should the Election Commission believe that a complaint was filed without an objective belief that the alleged misconduct violated a rule under this Title, the Commission may vote to make the complaint an Unofficial Election Notification.

Section 10: AMENDATORY: A new chapter in Title VI in the Student Government Association's Code Annotated.

<u>Chapter 5 – Oversight and Enforcement</u>

- 1. Campaign Rules Infractions. All complaints regarding violations of SGA campaign rules shall be submitted in writing to the Election Commission within five (5) days of the incident which generated the complaint or within twenty-four (24) hours of the close of the polls whichever is sooner. The Election Commissioner shall notify all affected parties of any grievance and allow the accused twenty-four (24) hours to submit a written response or request an oral hearing. The Election Commission shall make a ruling within one (1) business day after the accused has either made a written statement, after the oral hearing, or if they failed to submit either within the twenty-four (24) hour period. The Election Commissioner may not impose any points without the aforementioned hearing process.
 - a. The Election Commission, upon making a decision, shall compose a short-written opinion detailing the facts upon which its decision rests, what punishments will be imposed, and what reasoning was used to determine said punishment. Dissenting members of the Commission shall issue their own, separate opinion. All opinions must be made publicly available within twenty-four (24) hours of the decision of the Commission.
 - b. The Election Commission shall assign each campaign infraction upheld against a candidate a certain number of points. The range of each is specified within this Title. In considering the amount of points to assign for any given campaign infraction, the Election Board shall consider:
 - i. the severity of the rule violation,
 - ii. whether the candidate has prior violations of that particular rule,
 - iii. whether the candidate knowingly or negligently violated the campaign rule, and
 - iv. the effect which the campaign rule violation may have had on the campaign, on other candidates, and to the campus as a whole.
 - c. The Election Commission may not assign points at any level other than whole numbers or half-integers.
 - d. In addition, assigning a certain number of points to a campaign for rule infractions, the Election Commission shall determine a punishment appropriate to impose on the candidate. The Election Commission must impose a sanction upon finding that a campaign had indeed violated a campaign rule. The Election Commission may impose only one (1) punishment per individual campaign infraction. The punishments the Election Commission may impose are as follows:
 - i. Once a campaign has been assigned at least three (3) points, the Election

 Commission may temporarily or permanently prohibit a candidate from chalking within their designate chalking zone.
 - ii. Once a campaign has been assigned at least five (5) points, the Election

 Commission may temporarily or permanently prohibit a candidate from posting staked signs on campus, or impose one of the punishments described above.
 - e. The Election Commissioner's rulings shall be considering binding on elections until overturned by the Superior Court and these rulings shall not be subject to being overruled by an Opinion of the General Counsel. The Election Commissioner shall not make any unilateral rulings regarding alleged campaign infractions, as this power is reserved for the Election Commission. A request for a ruling from the Election Commissioner does not toll any applicable statute of limitations listed elsewhere in this title, nor does it create a new charge or cause of action for an incident for which the statute of limitations has already run.
- 2. **Disqualification**. The Election Commission shall vote on disqualification and removal of any candidate or ballot initiative when the candidate or proposing entity:
 - a. requests removal from the ballot in accordance with the provisions of this title;

- b. fails to turn in a properly completed filing application on time;
- c. fails to meet the eligibility requirements;
- d. campaign expenditures exceed ten percent (10%) of spending cap for the specified race;
- e. is assigned five (5) or more points by the Election Commission for violation of campaign rules, and every time thereafter a candidate receives a point over seven (7); or
- f. contemptuously fails to adhere to a sanction imposed on them by the Election Commission, pursuant to this chapter.
- 3. Disqualification Votes. All disqualifications shall be voted on by the Election Commission and said rulings shall be publicly posted. The Election Commissioner shall notify all affected candidates or proposing entity by OU email. All disqualifications are subject to appeal to the Superior Court. If an appeal is submitted within five (5) days of the Election Commission's ruling and at least twenty-four (24) hours before the election, candidates shall remain on the ballot until the Superior Court hears the appeal.
 - a. <u>Under no circumstances may margin of victory or the number of votes received by a particular candidate be used by the Election Commission in their consideration of whether or not to disqualify a candidate.</u>
- 4. Unofficial Notification Process. The Election Commissioner shall make an electronic form available for the duration of any election that any member of the SGA may use to submit election irregularities or other matters they would like the Election Commissions to be made aware of. The form shall allow respondents to remain anonymous if they so choose. Candidates shall be encouraged to use this in lieu of a rule violation complaint for complaints that lack sufficient evidence, and all form submissions shall be made public at the conclusion of the Election via the Election Report. Should an unofficial notification be filed that the Election Commissioner believes would more properly be considered an election complaint, it shall be dealt with as such. Following the validation of the election, the Congressional Administration Committee of the Undergraduate Student Congress shall hold a hearing to review all unofficial election notifications submitted during the election to determine if action should be taken to remedy any irregularities or other complaints detailed therein.
- 5. <u>Unofficial Election Results</u>. The Election Commission shall meet within twenty-four (24) hours of the close of the polls to certify the election results. The unofficial election results shall be publicly posted, and the Election Commissioner shall distribute said results to all candidates by OU email.
- 6. Election Report. The Election Commissioner shall also prepare an Election Report which shall be submitted to the SGA President, the Superior Court, the Undergraduate Student Congress, the Graduate Student Senate, the General Counsel, the OU Daily, and to all candidates in the election. The Unofficial Election Report shall include:
 - a. the total number of votes cast for each candidate, ticket, or ballot item;
 - b. rulings of infractions; and
 - c. information about any election problems or irregularities.
 - d. At their discretion, the Election Commissioner may also include any other appropriate information pertaining to the Election.
 - e. <u>The Election Commissioner must redact the personal information of the person that submitted any campaign infractions on the online portal.</u> The report may only include their name.
- 7. **Appeals**. All appeals of the rulings of the Election Commission must be submitted in writing to the Chief Justice of the Superior Court within five (5) business days of the incident or ruling which generated the appeal or within three (3) business days of the close of the polls whichever is sooner.

The Superior Court shall provide copies of all appeals relating to the election to the General Counsel, the Election Commissioner, and all other affected parties. The General Counsel, the Election Commissioner, and all affected parties shall have at least forty-eight (48) hours to file a written response. The Superior Court may also schedule oral arguments at its discretion – provided that it affords the General Counsel, the Election Commissioner, and all affected parties the opportunity to address it. If any of these parties chooses not to complete the aforementioned process, then Superior Court proceedings shall not be delayed. The Election Commission shall not be able to hear appeals of its own decisions. The deadlines in this section are amendable at the request of any party with approval of the Superior Court.

- 8. Election Fraud. All complaints regarding election fraud shall be submitted in writing to the Office of the General Counsel within three (3) business days of the close of the polls. The General Counsel shall review all complaints and determine whether there is sufficient cause to warrant formal charges. If the General Counsel decides to press formal charges, they shall notify the affected election official, collect all available evidence and testimony, and prosecute the offender in front of the Superior Court. The General Counsel shall make all decisions regarding whether they wish to press formal charges within five (5) business days of the incident which generated the charges or within three (3) business days of the close of the polls.
- 9. Superior Court Rulings. All rulings shall be publicly posted, and the Superior Court shall distribute the ruling to all candidates by e-mail.
- 10. **Election Validation**. The Superior Court shall meet on the fourth (4th) business day after the submission of the Election Report to consider the validation of the election. If there is any case pending before the Superior Court relating to the election, the timeline shall be suspended until the Court rules on the pending matter. Upon issuance of a ruling the aforementioned timeline shall resume. During validation proceedings there shall be a presumption of administrative regularity unless clear and convincing evidence is presented to the contrary.
 - a. The Superior Court shall not be permitted to raise any issues pertaining to the election sua sponte. It shall only invalidate the election in accordance with the standards set forth in this title based upon issues expressly and specifically raised in an official complaint or appeal considered and ruled upon prior to validation proceedings.
 - b. If the Superior Court fails to rule whether the election is valid or not valid within seven

 (7) business days of the close of the polls, the election shall be considered valid subject only to the basis of claims arising explicitly from provisions of the SGA Constitution. In the event that questions may arise from any election which the Superior Court may need to decide before validating the results of the election, or in the case of a runoff election, the Superior Court may validate the results of all completed races independently of those races which it decides are not ready for validation.
 - c. <u>Upon the validation of the election, the Election Commissioner must send the election results to all Norman Campus students via an OU Mass Mail (OUMM) within forty-eight (48) hours of the validation. They may only send which candidate won which position.</u>
- 11. **Standing**. With the exception of issues raised by the General Counsel and the Election Commissioner, the Superior Court shall not hear any matter relating to an election unless the petitioner first shows:
 - a. a distinct and palpable injury to themselvesfa;
 - b. that the injury is caused by the challenged activity; and
 - c. that the injury is apt to be redressed by a remedy that Superior Court is able to grant.

- 12. Rules of Law. In rendering decisions relating to elections, the Superior Court shall cite the specific constitutional, statutory provisions, or the previous precedents that it is applying. All opinions of the Superior Court shall contain
 - a. a succinct statement of the conclusion or holding;
 - b. a statement of the applicable rule of law;
 - c. an explanation of the rule of law;
 - d. an application of the rule to the facts of the dispute; and
 - e. a brief restatement of the conclusion or holding.
- 13. **Grounds for Invalidation**. The Superior Court shall not enjoin or invalidate an election unless there is clear and convincing evidence that the true will of the voting public is not reflected. To set aside an election, there must be gross fraud which leaves the intent of the voters in doubt or irregularities in the conduct of the election of such nature as to affect the result. The wrongs against the freedom of election must have prevailed, not slightly or in individual cases, but generally and to the extent to render the result doubtful.
- 14. Penalties. The Superior Court shall have no authority to disqualify any candidate except when confirming a decision of the Election Commission. Weighing the gravity and intent of each incident, the Superior Court may confirm, overturn, or reduce any points imposed by the Election Commission. The Superior Court shall have no power to impose any other points except those based upon issues raised in an official complaint or appeal. It shall report such findings to Student Affairs for possible disciplinary action. It shall also report such findings to the Congressional Administration Committee of the Undergraduate Student Congress so that that body may initiate censure and impeachment proceedings as appropriate.
- 15. <u>Congressional Administration Committee Oversight.</u> Upon the validation of the election by the Superior Court, the Election Commissioner must schedule an oversight meeting with the Congressional Administration Committee. They shall present to the committee the Election Report, unofficial notifications, and other documents requested by the Congressional Administration Committee Chair.
- 16. Violations of Federal, State, and Local Law. Although all candidates and election officials are expected to comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, nothing in this title shall be misconstrued so as to create a charge or a cause of action under which a candidate may be punished, fined, or disqualified by any SGA official, board, commission, or court. Remedy for such actions must be pursued through the appropriate federal, state, or local authorities.
- 17. Violations of the University Rules and Policies. Although all candidates and election officials are expected to comply with all of the university's rules and policies, nothing in this title, unless explicitly stated, shall be misconstrued so as to create a charge or a cause of action under which a candidate may be punished, fined, or disqualified by any SGA official, board, commission, or court. Remedy for such actions must be pursued through the appropriate university authorities.

- **Section 11:** AMENDATORY: Title I, Chapter 2, Section 7, Subsection C of the University of Oklahoma's Student Government Association's Code Annotated is amended as follows:
 - **C. High Offices of the Judicial Branch.** The high judicial offices of the SGA shall be as follows: Members of the Student Superior Court; Members of the Student Parking Appeals Board; SGA General Counsel; SGA Associate General Counsels; Election Chair Commissioner; and Election Board Commission.
- **Section 12:** AMENDATORY: Title II, Chapter 1, Section 7, Subsection C of the University of Oklahoma's Student Government Association's Code Annotated is amended as follows:
 - **C. Presence at Legislative Meetings.** The subject(s) of the advice and consent legislation pertaining to Superior Court, General Counsel, Election Chair Commissioner and Election Board Commission, and Parking Appeals Board must be present at the Undergraduate Student Congress and Graduate Student Senate meetings in which the legislation is being considered.
- **Section 13:** AMENDATORY: Title X, Chapter 5, Section 2, of the University of Oklahoma's Student Government Association's Code Annotated is amended as follows:
 - Election Board Members Commission Staff: up to 5 per election, \$40\sum_50x5 persons x 2 general elections; plus, if needed, \$20x5 people for any runoff or special election (up to three of the aforenoted)
 - Election Chair Commissioner: \$350 \$500/Spring General Election, \$\$350 \$500/Fall General Election; plus, if needed, \$50 for any runoff or special election (up to three of the aforenoted)
 - Election Poll Operators: 20 Individuals per election, \$20x20x 2 elections. Election Board Members, Chair, and Poll Operators are appointed according to the Elections Procedures Act.

- Section 14: This section shall grant the General Council the right to update all other instances of the "Election Chair" to "Election Commissioner" the "Election Board" to "Election Commission" in the Code Annotated and shall direct the staff of Student Affairs to update their references as aforementioned in websites and other resources.
- **Section 15:** This act shall become effective when passed in accordance with the SGA Constitution and after

the validation of the Fall 2020 General election.	ice with the 5021 Constitution and a
Author(s): Foster Hillis, Congressional Administration Chair & Univ	versity College Representative
Co-Author(s): Bailey Ownby, Congressional Administration Vice-Cl	nair
Co-Sponsor(s):	
Submitted on a Motion by: Representative Nath seconded by Representative	sentative Smail
Action taken by Congress 34-0-0	
Verified by Chair:	Date:
Submitted on a Motion by:	
Action taken by Senate	
Verified by Chair:	Date:
Approved by SGA President:	Date: